THE CHARTERHOUSE

OF THE
TRANSFIGURATION

Two Historical Essays

PROFESSOR KENT EMERY, JR
AND ANALECTA CARTUSIANA

With a Picture Story

Charterhouse of the Transfiguration
2019



CARTHUSIAN BOOKLETS ERIESN® 13

First published, 2009



THE CHARTERHOUSE OF THE
TRANSFIGURATION

PROFESSOR KENT EMERY, JR.

This paper of Professor Kent Emery, Jr. of Notre Damaversity

was presented at tHongress The Origin of the Chartlouses VI™
International Colloquy on Carthusian History and Spirituality, arg

nized on theoccasion of the celebration of the")XCentenary of the
foundation of the Grande Chartreuse (Septembel3,21984), and
subsequently published by £dition
1986, p. 459 7 6 . Professaor Emelloqup was pr e s «
made possible by the National Endowment for the Humanitied)-Was
ington, D.C. Withtheawt hor 6 s approval the tex
and slightly modified by the editors of tBarthusian Boklets Series

We express our profound gratitude to Professmegy for permitting

us to include his preseaiton in our Series

N

For reasons which will become clear, | have never visited the
Charterhouse of the Transfiguration in Arlington, Vermont. However,
for several years, in a rather providential way and in modskidn, |
have corresponded with the Pritfom Raphael After consultation
with his community he has kindly sent me information to present to
this Congress. For the most part, then, my presentis areportatio
of Dom Raphadb svords, and he is theo@author Worldly-sounding
interpretations, however, must bigriduted to the speaker.

As this Congress will have made clear, the hisairgach Che
terhouse is unique. Nonetheless, like the medieval hagiographer who
spoke offithe Life of theSaint beause he saw in all their stories
something common, so in the story of the foundatibthe American
Charterhousene may dscern ceain familiar patternisthe patronage
of wealthylay people theearly pioneer activitieby monks fronold-
er, establishe@uropearhouses, the nevabating desire of the oo

"Edi t or Dom Rapbael evas Prior from 1971 to 1995. He passed away in 1996.
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munity for yet more solitude, and the happy discovery of a proper
avildernes$ or @eserfy which establishes the permanence of the
founcktion.

In 1950, Dom Pablo Mari®d we presume, the first American
Carthusia® and the Englistspeakig Prior of the Chderhouse of
Jerez, Dom Luis Maria, arrived from Spain in North America intent
on foundingfithe first Carthusian monastery in the New WorlBlom
Pablo Mariahad been a Carthusian for only a short time, itamade
his solemn profession ithe Charterhouse dfliraflores on 6 @tober
(the feast oSaintBruno), 1949.

Dom Luis Maria remained in the States just long enough to see
things get under waypom Pablo Mariawho would be the abiding
presence of the comunity for the next ten years, was soon joined by
a monk ofthe Chaterhouse oParkminster, Dom Humphrey, and his
companionBrotherBede

A pious laywoman, Mis&lizabeth Pierce, who later teme a
Carmelite nun, gave these earlyrtbasian settlers 508cres of land
(a property c mlrollirgdillsh&k Whitikgham md )
southern Vermont. Aother layman, Peter Grace, heir of the famous
shipping company, augmented this first gift with another of 800 a
joining acres( 6 Gr a c e Th&Garthmiény themselves purchased
more land, briging the total to 2000 acres. Here the new community,
composed mainly of monks from European houses, lived for almost a
decade.During this period they did receive American retreatants who
wanted to try the Carthusidife. Conditions in Whitingham werees
vere enough to please the asceticalipded. New England wters
are long and bitterly cold. The monks dwelt in @oemed huts with
an extension just large enough to hold a small altar for the saying of
Mass. Theséwuts were made with compositidaoard walls set upon
spaced concrete blocks. The floor and roof were without insulation.
The huts were barely faished, each containing only a bed, that is, a
few loose planks covered by the traditional straw mattressughro
desk, and two or three boards attached to the wall to serve ks boo
shelves. Plumbirdy if one could call it tha was primitive. In these
dwellings the monks cultivated their love of the cBlhm Pablo M-

AE di t or Knewn mdthe world as Fr. Thomas Verner Moore.

4



ria said that he spent the happiest years ofifasn his hut in Whi-
ingham

Having cleared the land, and having obtained approval of their
plans from the General Chapter, the monks were about to build a
permanent monastery in Whitingham when Fortune turned her wheel
for the bdter. In 1960, one of th€arthusian lthers chanced to meet
a Dr. JG. Davidson, and eventually introduce him to the small
community. Dr. Davidson, the inventor of Vinyl, was the Vice
President of Union Carbide, the huge chemical firm. Worried that u
on retirement he would ¢& something to do, Dr. Davidson hadrpu
chased darge remotepropertyatop Mount Equnoxd the highest in
the ancient Taconic rangenear Arlington, Vermont. There herco
structed a wholly sel$ufficientgrandestate, putting in roads,dlud-
ing a tollroadto the peaktwo power houses to generate el@ittri
and three lakes to feed themdavuilding, besides two main houses,
several smaller servideouses.

M OUNT EQUINOX TOLL ROAD

INSET : THE RENOVATED TOLL HOUSE[2002] AT THE ENTRANCE
ON ROUTE7A

Dr. Davidson had no surviving children. Thus he conceived that
the best way to perpetuate his property would be to bequeath it to
contemplative monks. Naturally enough, he thought first of the-Tra
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pists, probably having read some works by Thomas Merton, the

American monk and spiritual aut hor . Davidsonbs contacts with the
Trappists, however, came to nothing. Again naturally enough, D

vidson had never heard of the Carthusians, but when he met the

community at Whitingham he was so i mpressed with the monksd fe
vent pety that he offered them his whole estdtewould seem that

the Carthusians accepted this offer for itiadal and aesthetic as well

as practical reasons. The new site for a monastery was in a high

mountain valley, the traditiongblacefor a Carthusianwildernesg

This valley was high above a lower one containing the villafge

ManchesterMoreover, the sel$ufficient and revenue producingafe

tures of the estate were attractive, inasmuclCathusians unlike

Cistercians and Benedictines, do nostaim their communities by

remunerative physicaélbor.

The decision to transfer tdount Equinox turned out to be pro
idential, as the former sit@Vhitinghan) was soon swounded by a
large ski resort. We are familiar enough with the way in which the
city tracks the Charterhouse into the forest. The Charterhouse on
Mount Equinox, Dom Raphaelreports, is probably the most solitary
in the Qder.

In 1967, the American monks began construction of a nem+ mo
astery orMount Equinox, completed in 1970. This monagiecalled
AiThe Charter house igluiltwith bugeTmoa-nsf i gur ati ono,
lithic blocks ofVermontgranite, each nine feet high, three feet wide,
and 1% feet thick. Such construction betokens well the Carthusian
vocation to permanence and stabilitydawe should add, it alsolfu
fills the wish of the generaudonor of the propertyDom Raphael
says thafithe huge, undished slabs of granite, used just as they were
drawn from the quarry with no finishing touches, express well the
rusticity and simplidiy that characterizes the Carthusian life. The
building is simple, strong,and ruggedwith no preénse &ittingly
enough, these are also the virtues of Newi&rd.

The establishment of a manifestly permanent monastery has
doubtless contributed to theeadily increasing number of American
vocations to the @er. Dom Raphaeteports that the Charterhouse
receives three or four serious inquiries each week, and that the total in
the last ten years is about 1500. Of coursedféawever attractedl
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are acceptedr pursue to the end, something to bpected when the
cultural conditionsof modern western life are such that even the
slightest austerity is intolerable to most, however much thgiyeato

the end that might be achieved thereby.

In their daily regimeand liturgical practice the monks bfount
Equinox in no way differ from other Houses in the Order. One would
not have suspected otherwise. The community, howeveaduxed
certain changed congenial to common American régnen®
allowed by the Church analithin the Order. Hence, the monksthé
Charterhouse of the Trandfigtion, although maintaining the Latin
for the greater part of the liturgy, now also use seere@acular whe
ever possible, anthersandbrothes have assumed their place in the
commurity according to date of entry.

While thefathes occupy themselves itheir cells, thebrothes
tend the physical businesstbe monastery, as is customaitye latter
join the former in the long Night Officand in Mass and \¢pers

Whereas most rigious Orders in the last century have trained
scholars and established institutes and journals to promote their hist
ry and intellectual traditions, the Carthusians hdesisted from o+
ing this Some of us, | presume, who endlessly chase manuscripts,
name copyists, and count inventories, mourn the decline of literature
within the Order. But the Carthusians have always maintained-an a
cetical attitude towardgublishing what they writeEven in the period
of its greatest literary aeity, the Ordefs mostegregious reader and
writer, Denis the Carthusiameeded to explain himself to his super
ors. The ascetic attitude is clearly expressed in the practice of the
American Charthouse.Dom Raphaelsays that, among the monks,
fireading has its end in the sjiiral lifeé We do not write except in
those cases where a monk finds that it helps his owitugpitife.

Such writing is, of course, personal, and does not go beyond the cell.
It is really t&ing notes on what one reads, and possibly addingsone
own refections 0 [Ra 1p hsdastlrednark, | think, is intriguing. If
one attends carefully the works of prolific i@asian authors of the
fourteenth and fifteenthenturies, he will see that their practice is
virtually, if not accidentally, the saméiaking notes on what one
reads, and possibly adding @eewn refletions. 0



Before all else, the monks of the American Charterhouse have
sought and preserved the eatifeaturesof Carthusian life namely:
solitudeand silenceAll visitors, including lay and tegious enthus
asts for the Order, are positively discaged, except those who wish
to try the life. Likewise discouraged are all forms of egpondence
with the outside world. Surely these Carthusians are a sign ogeontr
diction in our gegarious socist, but | imagine that such solitude is
nothing more than a form dadffective pudence should one believe
that there is one thing oessary, and that all else will folloglLuke
10:42 and Matthew 6:33)

N
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The names of the Charterhouse

The monastery church was consecrated to the Transfiguration of
the Lord on the feast of the Queenship of Mary, August 22, 1972, two
years after the monks moved into the newly built monastéence
theofficial name: Charterhouse of the Transfiguration.

The first settlement dates back to December of 1950 in Vghitin
ham, Vermont and was known é3ky Farnd (one occasionallyre
counters its Latin equivaledilla Coelid. In 1951 the official name
of the rew Foundationbecame thé&Carthusian Foundation in Amer
cad In August of 1952 the original settlement was expanded and also
included a property calledGrace Farr@ named after its @hor Peter
Grace. After the monks moved from Whitingham to Arlington on
August 29, 1960, the feast of the Beheadin§aihtJohn the Bgtist,
their provisional monastery was informally known as @iagm-
shed

Topography

The monastery is located on the western slope of Mount Equinox
in Arlington in Bennington County in sout@stern Vermont. During
the first ten years of their existence in the United States {1960)
the monks lived in Whitingham in Windham County in south central
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Vermont. Both Whitingham and Arlington are part of the Diocese of
Burlington, Vermont.

Patronage

The principal Patrons of the Charterhouse of the Transfiguration
are theBlessed Virgin Mary an@aintJohnthe Baptist.

Province

The Charterlouse belonged to thErench province, until the
suppression of the pvimcesby the General Chapter 2001.

Historical Overview

In November of 1950, following an offer of money and property
from a group of benefactors in the United States for the establishment
of a Carthusian monastery in their country, two monks, Dom Pablo
Maria from the Charterhouse of Mirafloresmd Dom Luis, the newly
appointedPrior from the Charterhouse of Jerez, arrived in North
America from Spain to investigate the peaty, calleddSky Farng in
Whitingham, Vermont. The reports they sent back to the Grande
Chartreuse were encouraging anderathePrior of Jerez had returned
to Spain, Dom PablMaria moved into the newly accepted property
on Christmas Eve of 1950. To get things started, while Sky Farm was
being put in acceptable order for its first Carthusian resident, $wo a
sociations werereated. To handle funds and property @aethusian
Foundationin America, Inc was created and incorporated. A seton
ary organization, known aehe Friends of the Carthusians in Anrer
ca, was created to bring together the growing group of interested
friends and benefactors. One of its purposes was to spread interest and
information about the Carthusians in America and to that end a
monthly newsletter, th€arthusian Chronicle started appe#g in
January of 1951.

In March of 1951, two monks from the Ergjli Charterhouse of
Parkminster joined Dom PabMariaat Sky Farm. One of them, Dom
Humphrey, became the first superior of the dledy Foundation The
following month the General Chapter officially approved the new
Foundation Since the full Carthusiafifé at Sky Farm was not pass
ble until a permanent Charterhouse was built, the first American ca
didates were sent to Europe: the choir monk hatds to the Grande
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Chartreuse and La Valsainte, those who intended to live the life of a
brother to Parkminst.

As already mentioned above, the summer of 1952, a property
adjacent to Sky Farm, known @race Far@ was donated to the
small Carthusian community. In an effort to ensure a propeastic
enclosure a ceremony was held a few months later, ofeést of
SaintBruno to set apart an area of the property as a place daffpeac
isolation and offlimits for lay people. The year 1952 ended with the
suspension of th€arthusian ChronicleA newsletter issued to piibl
cize the Carthusians in America wasedhed not in confanity with
their ageold tradition of separation from the world.

In the spring of 1954 Dom Humphrey returned tokRanster A
few months earlier he had bessplaced as superior by anothergkn
lish monk, Dom Richard. By the bemging of 1955 the community
consisted of four choir monks, two brothers, and fagpirants. In
1956 Dom Richard had to resign because of healthlgns. Dom
Stephen from Parkminster, who had arrived at the Foundation in
1954, was then appointed as superior.

In July of 1956 to determine possible sites for a future Charte
house a geological survey was conducted in Whitingham and the
neighboring towns of HalifaxVermon) and Heath(Massachbsett3,
where the Carthusians had acquired additional tracts of Booh
after the sitethatthe survey had recommended as the topographically
more faveable one was approved, clearing of the area began and a
road leading up to the site wasstructed.

In an effort to harness theater resourcesin the area so aso
provide thefuture monatery with electrical powerbrotherPaul, a
French brother with a degree in electrical engimge conceived the
idea of utilizing the potential a lake on the Grace Farm propérty o
fered for a small ydroelectric power plant. Having hearda&imilar
hydroelectric power project recently finished on Mount Equinox in
nearby Arlington, he adacted its chief designer and owner, Dr. J.G.
Davidson. Even thougbr. Davidsors opinion of the feasibty of
the project in Whitingham was negative stlimitial contact acquain
ed him with the Carthusian Foundation at Wigktiam and he became
interested in the Order.
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MOUNT EQUINOX
AS SEEN FROM THE MONASTERY
8 2000 o




In the course of the following two years, 1957 and 1958, the co
tacts betweethe Carthusians arfdr. Davidsonintensified and eve
tually led to his decision to offer his property on Emx Mountain to
the Foundation for the purpose of building a permanent monastery at
a site on the mountain to belected by the Order. In August 1959
official negotiations betweeBr. Davidsonand the Carthusian Fou
dation were held toaiermine the conditions of the donation and the
transfer of property, and indber of the same year the Order wrote
Dr. Davidsonto inform him that it acceptetthe dortion. On the 29
of August of 1960, the community moved from Whitingham to
Mount Equinox. It thercountedtwo fathers and fivébrothers, who
took up residence in a building on the Davidson property called the
ANagonshedl The period from the trasfer to the completion of the
monastery in August of 1970 is known as d\éagmshed yeai®

Another geological survey was conducted1i®63 on several
tracts of land on Mount Equinox. During the summer of that year, an
existing dirt road was completelylnailt and a new smion opened
leading to the site for the new monastery. The road wapleted in
September of 1966 and the construction of the definitive monastery
was undertaken in the summer of 1967 on a plateau area on the west
side of the mountairiThe construction was completed in the summer
of 1970. The monks made the move fromdhagmshedto the new
monastery on August 26, 1970. Coinciding with this transfer came the
appointment of Dom Raphael as the reygerior. Initially appointed
as rector he became the firgtrior of the Charterhouse of the Tsan
figuration in May of 1971. Five choir monks and five brothers made
up the conmunity at that time.

Dom Ra ppiaatelasted 24 yeardn June of 1995 Dom
Francois was appointderior. His priaate lasted until S#ember 21
of the next year. On September 22, 1996, Dom Lorenzo Maria was
appointed rector until the @eral Chapter of 1997. At that General
Chéepter, Dom André was appointed as the nexor. He received
misericordiaat the General Gipter of 1999. Dom Lorenzo Maria
was electedPrior on May 20, 1999, and, after confirmation of the

Y6Rec e miselicordja(mercypis a Carthusian expression that means: besnag r
l'ieved from oneds office.
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election, installed as the fourfrior of the Charterhouse of the Tsn
figuration on Pentecost Sunday, May 23, 1999.

During the eightiesAmerican vocationgo Carthusian life -
creasedThereforefive additional celldor choir monksvere added in
1989. The monastery could now accommodate eighteen choir monks.
The Vermont Chaerhouse, which also providesne cells for lay
brothers in this way resembleséhsize of the original Charterhouses
of the twelfth century when the number in the camity was fixed
The year 2003 was a year of rich blessings in terms of vocations. At
the end of the fall of that year the community totaled sixteen: six
cloister monkssix lay brothers, and four aspirants/postulants. éa D
cember 2006 there were six choir monks aightlay brothersThe
Vermont Charterhouse enjoys a solitude that is uedesded in the
history of the Order. In his preface to the 2003atiooal brochue of
the Transfiguration monastery the Reverend Father Marcetior, of

the Grande Chartreuse, writédsThe community settled in a beautiful,
austere and perfectly isolated region which, to this day, offers-a sol
tude uniqgue in our Order. o

EconomicResources

The Carthusian Foundation in America derigasmportant part
of its revenue from income generated by a toll ritedthe Carthuis
ansinherited from Dr. DavidsanThis 5.3 miles long road beginning
at Route 7A and running to the summit of Equindruntain is a
popular tourist attraction in the summer montBsher sources ohi
come come from the sale of the surplus electrical output of the-hydr
electric facilities on the mountain and the rent of spaces on the su
mit to the Federal Aviation Agencyf a communication station. In a
separate alternative energy project, Green Mountain Power @erpor
tion is exploring the feasibility of wind power using two wind-tu
bines near the top of Little Equinox.

Library

Besides a very fine and up to date collecobiooks of interest
to Carthusian monks, mainly in the fields of theology and spirituality,
the brary possesses several old books (ranging from 1574 to 1884)
and one incunabulum:agt Jeromés Vitae Patrumprinted in Venice
in 1483 by O. Scotus.
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LAKES, POWER PLANT, GENERATOR

Wildlife on the mountain : pileated woodpecker, indigo bunting,
black bear, great blue heron,
white -tail ed deer, and barred owl
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Architecture

An American architect, Victor Christarer, designed a structure
entirely enclosed with roughewn Vermont granite slabsfiThese
damerntlike wall sections, measuring nine and a half feet by three and
a half feet by thirteen inches thick and weighing three and a half tons,
are held in place atéhtop by a continuous reinforced concrete lintel.

THE BLOCKSOF VERMONT GRANITE
USEDFOR THE CONSTRUCTION OF THE MONASTERY
WITH THE ARCHITECT, VICTOR CHRIST-JANER

The resulting effect is one of great inner strength, unfaiitey-
rity, utter simplicity and evokes nothing in the viewer so muchas re
erent dencé.ON

8 Robert Mutrux"Charterhouse of the Transfiguratipin Great New England Churches:

65 Houses of Worship that Changed our LivEse Globe Pequot Presshestey CT,
1982,p. 10:102
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THE TRANSFIGURATION OF THE LORD
& NOVGOROD, 15™ CENTURY &

THE MONASTERY CHURCH WAS CONSECRATED
TO THE TRANSFIGURATION OF THE LORD [ SEEMATTHEW 17:1-9]
HENCE THE OFFICIAL NAME :
@CHARTERHOUSE OF THE TRANSFIGURATION®
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SKY FARM HOUSE [1957]
FIRST SETTLEMENT OF THE MONKS

FRONT PORCH OFSKY FARM HOUSE
WITH BELL FOR THE HOURS OF PRAYER



